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Rt Hon Lindsay Hoyle MP 
The Speaker 
House of Commons 
London SW1A 0AA 

17 March 2020 

Dear Mr Speaker, 

Cox III consultation 

I am writing to you in your capacity as Chair of the House of Commons Commission, to convey 
some  comments  by  the  Committee  on  Standards  in  response  to  the  Commission’s 
consultation on its “Cox III” preferred option. 

The  Committee  is  grateful  to  the  Commission  for  agreeing  to  our  request  to  allow  the 
Committee to submit comments after the expiry of its deadline on 8 March.  As you know, the 
Committee was only re‐established on 2 March, so we appreciate the opportunity to make a 
late submission. 

I  should  emphasise  that  the  Committee  in  this  Parliament,  like  its  predecessors  in  the  last 
Parliament, is very aware that it is an integral part of the system that was the subject of Dame 
Laura  Cox’s  critique  in  her  2018  report.  Notwithstanding  this,  the  Committee  is  the  body 
charged by the House with  the oversight of  its  standards  system, under Standing Order No. 
149, and we thought it would be useful to communicate our views.  

We have not had time to conduct an inquiry or to take evidence, and therefore what follows is 
not meant to be an exhaustive scrutiny of the preferred option, but a series of observations 
and queries which we hope will be of use to the Commission. 

1. We  acknowledge  the  work  done  by  the  staff  working  group  in  developing  Cox  III 
options, and are grateful that our lay member Jane Burgess was given the opportunity 
of contributing to this. 

2. The consultation paper states that under the preferred option “[a]s now“ [our italics], 
the  Commissioner  “would  retain  the  power  to  […]  impose  sanctions  up  to  a  certain 
level  of  severity”.  It  might  be  helpful  to  observe  that,  strictly  speaking,  the 
Commissioner does not currently have the power to  impose sanctions, only  to agree 
rectifications. We note that  the  ICGS Delivery Report, approved by  the House  in  July 
2018, refers to standing order changes being required to confer on the Commissioner 
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the  power  to  propose  “remedies—in  effect,  sanctions—if  she  sees  fit  […]  within  a 
framework  agreed  by  the  [Standards]  Committee”  (Delivery  Report,  para  53).  Such 
remedies/sanctions  might  include  apologies,  training  or  behaviour  agreements.  We 
plan shortly to resume our predecessors’ unfinished inquiry into sanctions, which will 
address (amongst other issues) whether an expanded suite of sanctions appropriate to 
ICGS cases should include sanctions which the Commissioner has the direct authority 
to impose herself. 

3. The consultation paper makes clear that the proposed panel will operate through two 
sub‐panels comprising three members each, one to consider sanctions and the other 
appeals  (including appeals against sanctions). We assume that  the overall  size of  the 
panel  must  be  at  least  7  or  8,  to  allow  for  two  sub‐panels  (with  non‐overlapping 
memberships) to be set up at the same time, allowing for the unavailability of one or 
more  panel  members  through  illness,  holiday,  etc.  It  would  be  useful  for  the 
Commission to make clear what proportion of the panel would consist of people with 
juridical/legal  expertise,  and  what  proportion  of  people  with  alternative  kinds  of 
experience, and how it would expect this split to be reflected on each sub‐panel. 

4. We agree with the Commission that the interaction between the panel and the House 
is an area of potential difficulty. The logic of excluding MPs is that when a panel report 
comes  before  the  House  for  decision,  no  panel  member  will  be  present  to  answer 
questions  or  defend  the  report  in  debate.  The Commission  sets  out  two options  for 
tackling  this  problem,  either  to  put  the  report  and  recommendations  to  the  House 
without debate (as in the Lords), or for a spokesperson from the Commission to attend 
the  debate  “to  speak  for  the  integrity  of  the  process”.    Each  of  these  options  is  an 
attempt to “square the circle” of creating a system entirely independent of MPs, while 
respecting the constitutional fact that the House must have the final say on suspension 
or  expulsion  of  its  own members. Whichever  solution  to  this  problem  is  adopted,  a 
certain awkwardness is bound to remain. 

5. We  note  the  consultation  document  does  not  address  issues  of  parliamentary 
privilege. The extent to which the panel’s work will be within the scope of Article IX of 
the Bill of Rights 1689, and therefore not subject to review or challenge by the courts, 
is an important question.  

6. We hope  that when  the Commission has assessed  the consultation  responses,  it will 
set out publicly a clear timetable for the next steps, including when the matter will be 
put  to  the  House  for  decision,  and  (if  the  preferred  option  is  approved)  when  it  is 
expected  that  the  recruitment  procedures  will  be  completed  and  the  independent 
panel be able to begin work. 

7. We believe that the proposal put to the House should be fully worked up, so that the 
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House  is  aware  precisely  what  it  is  deciding  upon  and  can  assess  the  implications 
objectively. Both  the previous Committee  and  the Commissioner  argued at  the  time 
that it was a mistake to rush to introduce the ICGS in July 2018, before the contents of 
Dame Laura Cox’s report was known, and there is a danger of repeating that mistake 
now. The standards system has developed in a piecemeal fashion, with major changes 
often being  a  reaction  to  a  crisis  or  scandal,  and  that  is  about  to be  repeated.   Any 
proposal  that  is not  fully thought through will  introduce even more  incoherence  into 
an already incoherent system, and further erode public confidence in that system. 

8. We  are  conscious  that,  even  if  there  is  rapid  progress,  inevitably  there  will  be  an 
interim  period  in  which  the  Standards  Committee  remains  responsible  for  ICGS 
sanctions and appeals. The previous Committee announced its policy on ICGS appeals 
in March 2019 (Sixth Report of Session 2017‐19, The Committee’s role in ICGS appeals 
(HC 1976)), and subsequently set up an ICGS Matters Sub‐Committee, which heard one 
appeal. No ICGS cases involving sanctioning have yet been referred to the Committee. 
We plan shortly to re‐appoint the sub‐committee. 

9. We  will  carry  out  to  the  best  of  our  ability  our  duties  in  relation  to  the  ICGS,  as 
imposed upon us by decision of the House on 19 July 2018, until the House discharges 
us from that responsibility. 

10. In doing so we are mindful of the importance of demonstrating that, even under any 
interim arrangement, the process will not be a matter of “Members marking their own 
homework”.  As  you  know,  the  Committee  consists  of  equal  number  of MPs  and  lay 
members,  the  latter  chosen  from  the  general  public  by  fair  and  open  competition. 
Since  January  2019  the  lay members  have  had  full  voting  rights  on  the  Committee, 
which in practice means that (because the elected Chair has only a casting vote) they 
have  a  voting majority.  The  Committee  has  decided  that  in  no  circumstances will  it 
challenge or seek to overturn a decision by the Sub‐Committee on ICGS Matters (which 
in any case has, unusually  for a sub‐committee, the formal right to report directly to 
the House without  reference  to  the main Committee  (under Standing Order No. 149 
(7)(b)).  

11. I  hope  that  the  above  arrangements will  give  the  Commission  reassurance  that  the 
Committee will act fairly and scrupulously in dealing with any ICGS cases referred to it 
during  any  interim period. We would  be  grateful  if,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  the 
Commission  could  make  clear  in  its  next  public  statement  on  Cox  III  that  the 
Committee will have this interim role. Nonetheless, if the House decides to adopt the 
preferred option, the sooner this is fully implemented and responsibilities transferred, 
the better. 

12. Finally,  in  addition  to  the  comments  above  relating  to  the  ‘Cox  III’  consultation, we 
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wish to raise a further issue relating to the ICGS more generally. We note that there is 
a potential disjunction between employment law and rights, on the one hand, and the 
operation of the Scheme on the other, insofar as the Scheme regulates the relationship 
between  a  Member  and  their  staff.  We  consider  that  this  issue  remains  open  and 
unresolved,  and we  recommend  that  the Commission  should  seek  further  advice on 
ways  of  addressing  it.  These  might  include  seeking  an  opinion  from  Counsel 
specialising  in  employment  law,  discussing  the  matter  with  interested  stakeholders 
including  the  House  of  Commons  Trade  Union  Side,  and  placing  the  issues  on  the 
agenda of the forthcoming “18 month review” of the ICGS. 

Yours ever, 

 

 

 

KATE GREEN MP 

CHAIR, COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS 
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